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SUMMARY

In August 2012, Oxford Archaeology North (OA Nortlias commissioned by Allied

Textiles Ltd to undertake a programme of archaecédgouilding investigation to

support a prior notification application for thenai@ition of the former Reeds Holme
Mill, near Rawtenstall, Lancashire (centred at NG#F900 424537). The mill was
established as an integrated cotton-spinning andviwg factory in the mid-

nineteenth century, and whilst the site expandednguthe second half of the
nineteenth and twentieth centuries, the majoritytred original buildings survive

extant. A current survey of Lancashire’s textileruiacturing sites has concluded
that Reeds Holme Mill is potentially of ‘high sidicance’, reflecting the extent of
surviving historic fabric.

Following the guidance and advice provided by tla@dashire County Archaeology
Service (LCAS) in their capacity as archaeologmdVvisor to Rossendale Borough
Council, it was recommended that an archaeolodiadtling survey of the historic
elements of the site was carried out to inform iethod statement for demolition.
The scope of the archaeological works required spagified in a Written Scheme of
Investigation that was devised by OA North in cdtaion with LCAS. This allowed
for an English Heritage Level 2/3-type survey oé thuildings, coupled with an
appropriate level of historical research.

The building investigation was carried out in Aug@d12, and identified three
principal phases in the development of the sité wio phases of subsequent smaller
structural modifications during the twentieth cegturhe historic fabric comprised
three main elements: a three-storey spinning bleckyeaving shed; and a stable
block, all of local sandstone construction. Thegioial three-storey spinning block
was of non-fireproof construction, and had an maéidouble-beam engine house. A
small boiler house appears to have been laid temssly at the eastern end of the
mill, leading to a large octagonal-section chimn&ysmall weaving shed was placed
opposite the preparatory block of the main mill Ithunig, although the principal
function of the complex appears to have been capaming at this time.

Extension work carried out in 1864-7 changed themex to a fully integrated cotton
mill, enlarging the mill to the Burnley Road stréebntage. The power plant was
seemingly remodelled to supply the increased denfangbower, with a four-bay
boiler house added at the eastern end of the gtogey mill, with the existing boiler
being replaced by a Green’s economiser. The poweheoengine may have been
increased by the addition of a high-pressure cglind stable block also appears to
have been added to the complex at this time. Tdsam ornate gateway at its western
end, controlling access into the complex from BeyrfRoad.

The third major phase of construction comprisedftindher expansion of the weaving

shed, which included a shallow basement, increasiagvarehousing capacity of the

complex significantly. The addition of engineeriwgrkshops above the eastern end
of the weaving shed appears slightly later in dael represents the final alteration of
the integrated textile mill complex. Further remilidg was undertaken throughout

the twentieth century following the cessation ofingpg and weaving, as the

buildings were adapted for textile-finishing proses.

For the use of Allied Textiles Ltd © OA North: September 2012
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1. INTRODUCTION

11

111

1.1.2

1.2

1.2.1

CIRCUMSTANCESOF THE PROJECT

Allied Textiles Ltd has submitted an application Rossendale Borough
Council for prior notification of the demolition dhe former Reeds Holme
Mill on Burnley Road, Rawtenstall (centred on NGB0S00 424537). In
response to the application, Rossendale Borougin@ilduas requested that an
archaeological record of the mill complex was cdetpas part of the method
statement for demolition. Following consultationttwthe Lancashire County
Archaeology Service, in their capacity as archagiold advisor to Rossendale
Borough Council, it was recommended that the amlogéal record should
be consistent with an English Heritage Level 2{3etyuilding investigation.
This allowed for an accurate measured survey ofhieric mill complex,
coupled with a written description and a detaileldotpgraphic record,
supplemented by an appropriate level of historeséarch.

A current survey of Lancashire’s textile-manufactgrsites has indicated that
Reeds Holme Mill is potentially of ‘*high significag’, as it seemingly retains
a considerable proportion of its historic fabricheTearliest elements of the
mill complex were erected during the mid-nineteecghtury, and included a
three-storey cotton-spinning block with a largeemnal engine house and a
detached, square-section chimney. There is sonuemse to suggest that the
mill also had some capacity for weaving cotton ggoalthough this was
seemingly carried out on a small scale. The compleas expanded
considerably in 1864-7 in the wake of the LancasHh{Cotton Famine’,
providing the mill with a large weaving capacityhdl weaving shed was
extended in the last quarter of the nineteenthurgnaind ancillary buildings
including additional warehousing and workshops vadse constructed. Major
additions to the site were also completed during second half of the
twentieth century, enabling modern textile-finighiprocesses to be carried
out in purpose-built structures. These buildingsyaim in use for coating
fabrics, and were excluded from the remit of thehaeological survey, which
was intended primarily to provide a detailed recofdhe nineteenth-century
structures to mitigate their ultimate loss throagmolition.

SITELOCATION

Reeds Holme Mill lies on the eastern side of BwriRmad at Reeds Holme,
situated some 2.25km to the north of Rawtenstalhdashire (centred at NGR
380900 424537). The southern boundary of the sitermed by the Edge End
Clough, a small watercourse and tributary of Limyaté&f, whioch flows
through Reeds Holme on the western side of BurRlegd. The site lies at a
height of approximately 193m above Ordnance Datum.

For the use of Allied Textiles Ltd © OA North: September 2012
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Plate 1: Aerial view of Reeds Holme Mill in 19880king south-east, showing the modern textile-
finishing plant to the north (botton left) and theéjacent Holmes Shed mill to the south (top right)

For the use of Allied Textiles Ltd © OA North: September 2012
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2. METHODOLOGY

21

211

2.1.2

2.1.3

214

22
221

BUILDING INVESTIGATION

The building investigation aimed to provide an ustending of the historic
fabric and key architectural features of the fornmeifl complex, and to
provide an archive record of the component strstyrior to demolition. It
has provided a drawn, photographic and textualrdead the buildings to
English Heritage (2006) Level Il standard. Recomd@se made of all principal
structural elements, both internal and externalwai as any features of
historical or architectural significance. Particukttention was paid to the
relationship between the earliest and latest pafrtthe building, especially
those that would show their development and amgrations. All work was
carried out in accordance with the Written Schermimestigation Appendix
1), and was consistent with the relevant standandspaocedures provided by
the Institute for Archaeologists (IfA), and genéraccepted best practice.

Photographic Survey: a photographic archive of the buildings was coatjil
consisting of both general and detailed interiootpgraphs, which were
captured using both digital and black and white B8brformats. General
photographs of the exterior elevations were algertan digital and 35mm
format.

Instrument Survey: floor plans of the buildings were surveyed by nseah
hand-measured survey to enhance existing blockspl@he drawings were
used as a basis for annotation to illustrate tresioly and development of the
buildings. Detail captured by the annotation inelddeatures such as window
and door openings, and changes in building matandl phasing. The final
drawings are presented through an industry standaid package (AutoCAD
2004).

Interpretation and Analysis: a visual inspection of the exterior of the
buildings was undertaken and a description maiathito English Heritage

(2006) Level Il. These records are essentially dgsee, and provide a

systematic account of the origin, development a®laf the mill complex.

ARCHIVE

A full archive of the work has been preparedatprofessional standard in
accordance with current English Heritage guideli{i€®91) and th&uidelines
for the Preparation of Excavation Archives for Lomgrm StoragqUKIC
1990). The archive will be deposited with the Lastiee Record Office in
Preston on completion of the project. In additiargopy of the report will be
forwarded to the Lancashire Historic Environmentétd (HER).

For the use of Allied Textiles Ltd © OA North: September 2012
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3. HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

31

3.1.1

3.1.2

3.1.3

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

The administrative district of Rossendale is focusa a long, narrow valley
of the River Irwell. This area formed part of thpassely populated and
densely wooded Forest of Blackburnshire until 15@&hen Henry VI
disafforested the valley and converted the land cdpyholdings that were
held in perpetuity by the ‘immigrants’ from Pendido received them. One
important consequence of this act was that the el used subsequently for
sheep farming, thus facilitating the start of Rossde’s woollen industry
(Tupling 1927). The principal urban centres in twrough are Haslingden,
Rawtenstall, Bacup and Whitworth, which all develdpin the nineteenth
century as a direct consequence of the growthdrektile industry.

The initial growth of the woollen industry in Rosskale was relatively slow,
which was in part due to the poor communicationsvaek. The industry
began to expand in the eighteenth century, witb@ased settlement centred
on the villages of Newchurch and Goodshawfold (Gwiolrthy 1965). The
application of machinery in the production of wewollgoods towards the end
of the eighteenth century stimulated an expansfaeindustry. One of the
first processes to be mechanised was carding. YWtaisling engines were
applied to the cotton industry in many other paftéancashire, the machine
was applied initially to wool in Rossendale. Beftihe end of the eighteenth
century, carding mills had been established atnBigridge, Baxenden and
Haslingden, with the total number increasing td84.825 {bid). The number
of fulling mills and dye works also increased i talley during this period,
although the application of machinery to the spigniof wool was not
progressed as rapidly as it was to cotton. Nevimtke some 20 new woollen
mills were established in Bacup alone during thestfi30 years of the
nineteenth century (Ensum nd,1), reflecting thetiooled importance locally
of this branch of the textile industry. Howevere twoollen industry fell into
decline from the mid-1830s; by 1840, cotton hadessgded wool as the
principal branch of the textile industry in Rossaled and only a few woollen
manufacturing firms remains after 1850 (RothweD205).

The factory-based cotton industry in Rossendalebeattaced back to the late
eighteenth century; by the end of the century,ehegre eight cotton-spinning
mills in operation in Rossendale, all being watewpred (Tupling 1927). By
1830, this number had increased to approximate)ytl® majority of which
continued to be water powered despite the widedpesioption of steam
power elsewhere in Lancashire. The great increasthe amount of spun
cotton that was produced by these new factoriestripped the supply of
handloom weavers, leading to the development ofegpedv weaving sheds.
The first steam-powered weaving mill in Rawtenstadls Higher Mill, which
started in production in 1822. Some four years |ggewer weaving was being
used to produce cotton goods in at least four othmglis, including
Longholme, Waterbarn, Rockcliffe and Irwell Springs

For the use of Allied Textiles Ltd © OA North: September 2012
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3.14

3.1.5

The date at which the mill was established is uaggr although the site is
shown as undeveloped land on the Ordnance Survpyoms849, which was
surveyed in 1844-7 (Plate 2). However, the mill veesupied in 1854 by
William Lord, cotton manufacturer (Davies 1984, 104 newspaper
advertisement of the same year offered for salasameter with tank and gas
making apparatus, all nearly new and capable oplgiqg 150 lights, at
Reeds Holme Mill in Rawtenstall Manchester Times5 July 1854;
Manchester Timed5 July 1854).

\ﬂndu 72 »
i« o,
Slmn’ #L’f’m’y : l-. . 7

Fovt Brecdgifim

Wiares :
AT {}u ;
7 2 {rec

Plate 2: Extract from the Ordnance Survey map @fdl&vith arrow marking the undeveloped
site of Reeds Holme Mill

It seems possible that William Lord was not theesmicupier of the mill, as in

1855 the assignees of James Fenton issued instisict sell by auction 172
patent power looms at Reeds Holme Mill. The powenis were described as
being all nearly new and having ‘the most recenpromements’, and were
offered for auction together with the winding, wag and beaming

machinery Manchester Time$ June 1853ylanchester Time® June 1855).

The mill appears to have been owned subsequentl{zégrge Haworth,

described in a trade directory for 1864 as a ‘cotteanufacturer’. Haworth

was responsible establishing the surrounding stiafetvorkers’ housing, three
of which (Tryon, Seymour and Nelson) were named@rdfis sons (Davies
1984, 104). Haworth was also responsible for caraiole reconstruction of
the mill, as a newspaper article of January 186dnts that George Haworth's
'Reeds Holme Mill will be a magnificent building @ completed, and with
the shed will contain 700 looms. There are now Ige200 hands employed at
the works’ Bacup and Rossendale NewWS January 1867).

For the use of Allied Textiles Ltd © OA North: September 2012
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3.1.6

3.1.7

3.1.8

3.1.9

It seems that Haworth may have leased space imtlheas William Slater
and Richard Hayhurst, described as cotton spiratdReeds Holme Mill, were
declared bankrupt in 1868é&ily News 20 May 1868). The entire mill
complex may have been occupied subsequently bygéddaworth. In 1879,
it was reported that the mill housed 16,000 spmdiad 400 loomsB@cup
and Rossendale New22 November 1879), whilst a subsequent artick th
was printed in a local newspaper some six yeaes Istated that 20,000
spindles and 465 looms were in operation at thé with a labour force of
300 Bacup and Rossendale New® October 1885).

In May 1886, a fire was discovered at JE HawortRseds Holme Mill,
although ‘the servants of the firm succeeded indsuiy the flames before
serious damage was don®&acup and Rossendale NewlsMay 1886). An
additional weaving shed with a capacity for 200nhgoand a new warehouse
were added to the site shortly after this fiBa¢up and Rossendale Newgdg
July 1886). The resultant increase in machinergpgarent in an entry in a
trade directory for 1891, which accredits Reedsnt#oMorks with housing
21,000 spindles, spinning coarse and medium coob®th twist and weft
yarn together with fine counts of weft, and 660n®) producing sheetings,
twills, domestics and T-cloths (Worrall 1891, 143).

The extent of the mill at that date is shown on@ndnance Survey 25”:1 mile
map of 1893 (surveyed in 1892), which provides ¢hdiest plan of the site
(Fig 2). Curiously, it is referred to as ‘Reeds el Works’ rather than ‘mill’.
It is depicted as a large complex with a rectangoilack forming the northern
boundary, with an irregular-shaped block lying he south. The two blocks
are separated by an entrance from Burnley Roadpiteaided access to the
mill yard at the eastern end of the complex. Thetaregular block, almost
certainly representing the spinning mill, is showmn have incorporated a
chimney in its north-eastern corner, presumablycetthg the location of the
mill's steam-power plant. The southern boundaryhef site was formed by
the Edge End Clough, immediately beyond which lagtiaer cotton mill
referred to as Holmes Shed. The same footpringmscted on the next edition
of Ordnance Survey mapping, which was publishetBihl (Fig 3).

In June 1925, the mill was taken over by Robertridrilling, at a cost of
£50,900. However, Pilling filed for bankruptcy iank 1931 Rossendale Free
Press 1931), and the mill was advertised subsequentlyséle. According to
one article, the mill housed 9,176 twist ring antl52 weft ring spindles and
662 looms, and was withdrawn from the sale as ilgeest bid was only
£5,000 Bacup Timesl2 March 1932). However, it was advertised adptier
in the same year. The sale notice provides an iilating description of the
component buildings and the machinery that theysbdyPlate 3). The three-
storey main mill, measuring 240ft long by 76ft wideas used for carding,
preparing, ring spinning, winding, warp and cha@aimming, cross balling, dry
taping, warp dressing and splitting. The weavingdsimeasured 202ft long by
142ft wide, and contained 671 looms. Power to tiilewas provided by a pair
of McNaughted beam condensing steam engines, hélsteam being raised
in a bank of four Lancashire boilers.

For the use of Allied Textiles Ltd © OA North: September 2012
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Plate 3: The sale notice of 1932

For the use of Allied Textiles Ltd © OA North: September 2012
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3.1.10 The mill was purchased eventually by JB Broadleyf®,250. The event was
recorded in the local press: ‘Reedsholme Mill, Rawtall, one of the largest
cotton mills in the district, has been acquiredab$tackstead’s firm, Messrs
JB Broadley Ltd, slipper binding manufacturers afrttolme Mill. The mill
has been closed for about two years, the last tdoeang Mr RH Pilling who
ran it for the manufacture of cottorB&cup Times7 October 1933).

3.1.11 The footprint of the mill at this date is captur@d the Ordnance Survey map
of 1930 (Plate 4; Fig 4). The footprint of the mipal buildings is shown to
have been the same as that shown on earlier mapglithgugh some slight
alterations can be discerned. In particular, aavastructure linking the north-
eastern corner of the weaving shed with the spgqblock had evidently been
constructed by that date.

SSLL T Printors Armsinn/ ) | B 0 el |
Febus - Printers' Arms' T = 77 e
i /" Printers /gf_ns‘_,?fa/ | 22) Wjﬁ e s
85 84/ -&%L P
ot "/ 636 22— EE

w2

22 Jf'?ﬁ"d’#_r—_ E e ¢ d s
A
s 45

5 H imes Shed
ottor Mill)
|
I
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| e
\ {5 078

3.1.12 In April 1934, part of the mill was leased to Mes®®E Ormerod, slipper
manufacturers of Waterfoot, who were seeking nesmgses after their Carr
Lane Works was gutted by firdBdcup Times 14 April 1934). Ormerods
occupied the three-storey block, with Broadley q@ying the weaving shed.

3.1.13 The firm of JB Broadley continued to prosper thrioowgt the late 1930s and
during the Second World War, during which they pedoballoon and dingy
fabrics for the Ministry of Aircraft Production. lime 1950s, the firm invested
in the development of synthetic footwear fabricspwlyurethane (PU) and
polyvinyl chloride (PVC) finishes. This proved te extremely successful,
and led to substantial growth of the company. Dythis period, JB Broadley
took over the three-storey block that had beerek&s Ormerods.

For the use of Allied Textiles Ltd © OA North: September 2012
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3.1.14 The footprint of the mill depicted on the Ordnarf8ervey map of 1963 is
shown as essentially the same as that shown orereardpping, although
some slight alterations to the weaving shed cadis®erned. However, plans
for extensions to the mill were announced by JBaHley in the early 1960s.
It seems that an extension of the site had beaspination for many years, as
JB Broadley Ltd had purchased land adjacent tarttlecomplex during the
early 1940s. A deed of conveyance, discovered dutite archaeological
survey, details the sale of a small plot of largljiealent to approximately 477
square yards ‘situate at the rear of Reeds HolmeksYoin May 1942. A
larger plot, in excess of 11 acres and includinggd®eHolme Farm, was
purchased in October 1944 for the sum of £1,10@ ddnveyance included
the right to take water from a tank on the nortbtedy side of the land, and
conduit it to the works via underground pipes.

3.1.15 The planned extension was to be 100,000 square drdtwould house the
finishing and inspection and dispatch departmetdgether with a new
quality-control laboratory Rossendale Free Pres29 June 1968). The new
building became known as the Cunliffe Works aftehrd Cunliffe Jackson,
who had been a managing director at JB Broadleyn filt926-60, and
chairman of the firm from 1946-65. The constructarthis building, which
was placed to the east of the spinning block, conuae in February 1965.

3.1.16 Another new extension for polyurethane coatingitawwas designed by Peter
Nuttall & Associates (Plate 5), was opened in 1943s new building was
known as the Rushbed Works, and became the mait folatransfer-coated
products Rossendale Free Presa3 June 1973). This was placed to the north
of the existing complex, and necessitated the diomlof the workers’
housing established by George Haworth in the 18Bl0s.footprint of the new
building, together with the Cunliffe Works of 196% depicted on the
Ordnance Survey map of 1977.

m—

Plate 5: Nuttall & Associates design for the newstday extension that was built in 1973

For the use of Allied Textiles Ltd © OA North: September 2012
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3.1.17 In November 1979, a fire broke out in the boileusé®, causing damage
estimated to be £30,00(Rdssendale Free Pres24 November 1979).
Another fire broke out in May 1980, following themosion of an oil tank,
causing damage estimated at £2,0R0ssendale Free Pres31 May 1980).
In January 1981, JB Broadley Ltd installed a neatiogg machine at a cost of
£50,000 Rossendale Free Pres40 January 1981). The following years
brought a decline in the local footwear industryhieh impacted upon JB
Broadley’'s profit margins. The company went througgveral changes of
ownership, including a management buy-out by fasident directors, but
was eventually amalgamated with Allied Textiles June 1989. The site
remains in the ownership of Allied Textiles.

For the use of Allied Textiles Ltd © OA North: September 2012
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4. RESULTS

4.1

41.1

4.1.2

4.2

421

4.2.2

INTRODUCTION

The historic buildings comprising Reeds Holme Midmprise three major
structural elements: a three-storey spinning blogkweaving shed, with
attached workshops; and a two-storey stable blbckZ). The spinning block
incorporated an internal engine and boiler house, @tained an attached
octagonal-section stone chimney (Plate 1).

The structures appear to represent two main plaisemnstruction, with both

the spinning block and weaving shed being extemddd64, which included

the erection of a gateway fronting Burnley Road theorporates a datestone.
A further increase to the weaving shed in the [E880s enlarged the site
beyond its extant size, although the majority oé tbomplex survived

modernisation through the twentieth century; théy dosses to the historic

fabric included the reduction of the stone-builinchey, and a part of the
weaving shed that had formed the southern paheofttill complex.

SPINNING BLOCK

The original element of the three-storey spinnilagk comprised 18 x 7 bays,
with a quadruple span roof (Plate 6). The buildumgs of local sandstone
construction, and given the large number of saméstguarries within the
locality, it is most likely that the stone was swed within the immediate
vicinity. The external walls comprised dressed,ticased blocks laid in
regular courses and bonded with a pale lime-basatam The windows had
projecting rubbed sandstone sills and flat onegiersticated lintels, except
the round-headed windows of the engine house aaid tstver, which had
dressed block arches with projecting keys (Plate The corners of each
elevation had projecting dressed quoins (Plateaéy all doorways had
dressed external jambs.

The wall thickness diminished on each floor, froi8”20.81m) at ground-
floor level, through 2'6” (0.75m) at first-floor Vel, to a much narrower 2’1"
(0.63m) on the upper floor (figs). Internally, talls were of dressed block to
3'6”(1.07m) high above each floor level, with renel# sandstone rubble
above (Plate 8), apart from the upper floor whiel la 3’ (0.91m) high brick
plinth in Stretcher Bond (Plate 9), strongly sugmesthat it was only a single
skin facing to the stone wall.
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Plate 6: Spinning block from Burnley Road, with dugple-span roof and dressed quoins

Plate 7: Eastern end of spinning block, showingl#énge arched windows of engine house
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Plate 8: Sandstone plinth below rendered rubbldsyéirst floor, spinning block

Plate 9: Brick plinth below rendered rubble walkgcond floor, spinning block
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4.2.3 The main block, to the west of the stair tower andine house, was of non-
fireproof construction, with 77 (0.18m) diameterstdron hollow cylindrical
columns supporting large-scantling timber beamaté10) below a planked
ceiling, undersealed with lath and plaster (Pldtg Each column was fluted
above an astragal, and had a decorated channelrsseiddle above a wide
rib, carrying the timber beams above, which weop-sthamfered either side
(Plate 12). Each column head incorporated a crosgh firotecting the timber
beams, which must have been ‘threaded’ throughctiltemns. Each beam
spanned half the width of the block, being buttjed within the central
column crush box. The central row of columns ongfraind floor had bolting
faces for a line shaft hanger on their southere {&tate 12), whilst it was the
northern row that carried the line shaft at filsif level (Plate 13). At
ground-floor level, the faces had T-shaped moustiftg the hangers (Plate
14), which were then inter-locked and adjusted wpiditking wedges, whilst
those at first-floor level were mounted with thraugplts (Plates 15 and 16),
which were used to adjust the tension and posafaime hanger. It is unclear
why two separate mounting methodologies were aghpiequiring adaptation
of the casting mould for the columns.

4.2.4 A blocked aperture in the east wall at first-fldevel (Plate 16) represented
the position of a large bevel gear, which wouldentranslated power from the
upright shaft, to a horizontal drive shaft. Thisright shaft was placed
adjacent to the northern column row, 23’ (7.01nopfrthe north wall, with an
exposed trimmer in the ceiling above, forming pdirthe housing for the shaft
as it passed between the floors of the spinningkbldhe centrally placed line
shaft at ground-floor level could either have beewen by a belt from the
upright shaft, or by a horizontal drive shaft, poseeby a bevel gear within a
footstep bearing for the upright shaft. Subsequentodelling had removed
any evidence for this arrangement, but given trstijom of blocked apertures
in the external south wall, and on a correspondafignment within the
external wall of the weaving shed, it is almosttaarthat a horizontal drive
shaft ran along the wall face and into the weawhgd, the power to the
central line shaft at ground-floor level being skted via a smaller bevel
gear. Furthermore, it is from the positions of thesibstantial elements of
ironwork that the wall of the engine house has besmoved, strongly
suggesting that they defined the extent of the detiog.
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Plate 10: Ground floor of spinning block

Plate 11: Detail of lath and plaster ceiling on tgeound floor of the spinning block
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Plate 12: Detail of ground-floor columns in the sping block

Plate 13: First floor of spinning block
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Plate 14: Bolting face on ground-floor column iretepinning block
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Plate 15: Casting for through bolts opposite bditiiace on first-floor column in the spinning block
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Plate 16: Blocked aperture in east wall of spinnbigck at first-floor level, with ceiling
trimmer above, and line shaft brackets on the agjacolumn

4.2.5 On the upper floor the massive cast-iron top begafor the upright shaft
survived in-situ (Plate 17). This wall box incorporated T-shapeduntimg
holes within bolting surfaces for vertical and zontal bearings, as well as
curved rebates for bevel gears translating thecaémdrive horizontally along
the east wall. A 3’ (0.91m) wide end bearing boxumed within the wall face
7'8” (2.35m) to the south housed the eastern dérnleoupper floor line shaft
(Plate 18), which rather than being attached tdéiraplplates on the columns,
was carried by hangers bolted to the soffits ohdseam, placed 4’ (1.22m) to
the north of the central column row (Plates 18 &8)l In the western five
bays, an additional line shaft was placed in aesponding position to the
north of the northern column row, presumably toelfurther machinery, the
line shaft almost certainly being driven by a dedim that to the south. The
columns of the upper floor again differed slighttgm those below, in that
they did not incorporate crush boxes, which wowgéhbeen unnecessary as
no weight was applied directly above the uppermmois. Instead, they had flat
bolting plates to the beams (Plate 19), with thie-bnded joints clearly visible
above the central row (Plate 18).
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Plate 17: Top bearing for upright shaft in the sgimg block, with recesses for bevel gears

Plate 18: Top bearing and offset line shaft endriver second floor of the spinning block

4.2.6 The roof was open to the rafters, but joist sockethe east wall of the main
block demonstrate that this bay, at least, orityndbd a loft. This may
explain the use of wrought iron king rods withirethraced timber trusses
(Plate 19), possibly as a means of generatingthfighore space within the
loft. Whilst king post trusses were more common faultiple span roofs
(Giles and Goodall 1992), queen post and queern swigses were more
widely used for creating more useable attic spathks.technology for roofs
constructed fully of wrought and cast iron was algdely available by the
mid-nineteenth century, although the cost may Haeen prohibitive for the
roof space gained.
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4.2.7 Another unusual feature of the roof is that thdeya were not placed directly
above the columns (Plate 19). Whilst the four spafsthe roof are
symmetrical, the placement of the column rows i§ moth the outer bays
being far significantly wider than the two centbays. This arrangement was
probably undertaken to maximise the useable spaddé different sizes of a
range of preparatory machines, principally cardnogjng and slubbing, with
the column lines being reciprocated on the upperd for structural strength.
The narrow longitudinal bay width may possibly bgplained by the
relationship of the roof and the column rows, witte larger number of
columns it required than might be expected of acstire of this date, being
employed to support the roof. The roof latterly hadnetal sheet covering
(Plate 7), but given the mill's proximity to thecl sandstone quarries, it
probably had a stone flag roof originally, whichwa have increased the load
on the columns significantly.

Plate 19: Bolts protruding from soffit for line sh&angers, with further hanger attachment
bolt holes in beam face

4.2.8 The upper floor retained its original floor, congang narrow tongue and
grooved boards above the wider ceiling planks o first floor. The
interlocking tongues and grooves were applied ltéoak edges of each plank
(Plate 20), demonstrating the high quality of tleef, which was probably of
maple, and was typical of the flooring used in spig rooms, where the
operatives were generally unshod. A gap in therfidmove one of the ceiling
beams revealed that the joists were half-lapped th@ beams, with the wider
tongue and grooved boards placed on the same a@ignas the narrower
boards forming the floor surface (Plate 20).
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Plate 20: Detail of spinning floor construction tme second floor

4.2.9 The eastern three bays of the original mill buiddiformed a preparation
block, and were of fireproof construction, comprgsibrick jack arches
supported on cast-iron beams (Plate 21). Cast-isqnare-section tie rods
were also incorporated into the design, bracing abiéng beams together.
Where these arches were replaced subsequentlyflatitboncrete ceilings at
ground-floor level, the beams were exposed, showheg to be inverted T-
section, fish-bellied beams, clasped around theom&d cylindrical head of
columns (Plate 22), which were otherwise similatitose in the main part of
the mill to the west. Within this fireproof area tfe building, the columns
also incorporated bolting plates, with T-shaped gesldousings, on the outer
faces of the two central rows (Plate 22), carryime shafting for the
preparatory machinery, presumably scutchers. Innbgh elevation, two
doors in the north wall allowed materials to bede@d directly into this
primary preparation area. This would have beemtbst combustible area of
the mill, producing large quantities of highly flamble dust, hence its
fireproof construction, and its colloguial naméeévil Hole’.

4.2.10 The bearing box for the northern of the two linafth at first-floor level
survivedin-situ, and was flanked in the adjacent bay by a pair edrited fish-
bellied beams (Plate 23), which presumably housedhianger for a bevel
gear. A central loophole in both elevations sugggesttorage and primary
processing was undertaken in this area, with adslemoist, to which an
electric motor was subsequently fitted, survivedtlie northern doorway
(Plate 24). In the southern bay of the preparabtotk, a glazed timber
partition was inserted subsequently, forming aidorrfrom the staircase into
the eastern extension (Plate 25). Elements of tibagsflooring also survived
at first-floor level, demonstrating the verticalntimuation of fireproofing
throughout this part of the mill. Several later @pees had been punched
through the brick arch ceiling (Plate 23), to allovaterials to be passed more
easily between floors, whilst at ground-floor levarge sections of the brick
vaulting had been replaced with flat concrete flogi(Plate 22).
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Plate 21: Fireproof brick arch construction withraining rods within eastern bays of original mill,
first floor, preparation block

Plate 22: Fireproof brick arch construction showiimyerted fish-bellied beams, ground floor,
preparation block
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Plate 23: Bearing box and associated fish-belliedrns for bevel gear hanger, first floor, preparatio
block

Plate 24: In-situ hoist, first floor, preparatioridzk
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Plate 25: Timber partition and flagstone floor iiffloor, preparation block

4.2.11 The east wall of this part of the structure wasaisistent thickness with the
principal elevations of the mill, and housed windoat first-floor level that,
although not visible on the internal side of thdlwaere retained as alcoves
within the later extension to the west (Plate ZR)ese provide substantive
evidence for the bays to the east forming a latiglition to the mill, rather
than just a separate structural element of themalidpuild. Had the processing
being undertaken within and above the ‘Devil Hole'quired the wall
thickness observed in order to protect the strectarthe west, it would be
implausible for it to then contain so many largaaaw apertures.
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Plate 26: Blocked window apertures in external fateriginal gable wall, first floor,
preparation block

4.2.12 The two bays between the spinning and preparatorgfge areas housed the
access and power arrangements. The principal, w&r&etrance into the mill
was through a round-headed doorway within the selgkation, access to
which was afforded via a cobbled passageway fragnstreet frontage (Plate
27). After the expansion of the mill in 1864, thiscess was further controlled
through a gateway in a facade that extended tHdeigth of the complex
along Burnley Road. The doorway led into a squae sower, also of
fireproof construction, with large sandstone flagsinning the landings. The
central newel was 9'6” (2.93m) square and of hamdiebrick construction in
two-stretcher English Garden Wall bond, within whisandstone treads for
the stairs were housed. This originally housediathehich was powered by
the engine, the small end bearing for the driveftdh@ing observed at first-
floor level in the dividing wall (Plate 28). The wel also presumably
originally housed the main standpipe for the sgenlsystem, the tank for
which was housed at third-floor level, in a roonthwiound-headed windows
in the south elevation (Plate 29). The shallow ugle®r of the tower housed
the cast-iron water tank for the engine, which s@d in-situ. The tower was
adapted subsequently for the insertion of an etepbwered lift cage, with
the front wall being rebuilt in engineering bricdRl&te 30), and the electrical
headgear replacing earlier winding gear above skdoor level.

4.2.13 In the western part of the stair tower, a 4'6” I wide 9’ (2.74m) deep
room was placed on each floor. A 2°6” (0.76m) werway provided access
from the spinning block at each floor level (PI&t, whilst 3’ (0.91m) wide
doorways from each landing, and at ground floorelewere all blocked
subsequently (Plate 30). The room had an intaot & each level, and whilst
it was not possible to establish the nature offfi@ing, it would appear that
they blocked a small hoist, with principal accassif the landing, but with a
narrower access directly from the spinning floor.
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Plate 27: Main entrance into spinning mill, witHea} to gated entrance on Burnley Road

Plate 28: In-situ small end bearing for hoist, fifor, stair tower

4.2.14 The quarter-turn staircase had a blocked doorwaydssn ground- and first-
floor level, from the eastern landing into the erghouse (Plate 32), which
lay immediately to the north within the main sturet This presumably
provided the principal access into the engine houpeto deck level, with
access to the cylinder head, and beam floors als®tinly being provided
by internal ladders. A window on the first landinetween the first and second
floors was blocked subsequently, but undoubtedlgvided light to the
cylinder-head deck in its original form.
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Plate 29: Round-headed windows and late sprinidakt fourth floor, stair tower

Plate 30: Rebuilt newel wall within stairwell, abtbcked hoist entrance (left), ground floor
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Plate 31: Doorway from spinning floor into probaliieist tower, first floor

Plate 32: Blocked doorway from stair tower to démkel of engine house
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4.2.15 Whilst both the engine and its bed were removedsymably in the mid- or
late twentieth century, significant evidence fa& #rrangement was retained
within the fabric, although much was obscured bgta internal rendering of
the structure, and the removal of the dividing wélétween the engine house
and the main structure on either side at grounorflevel. The north elevation
of the two-bay wide engine house retained two lamend-headed windows
spanning the first and second floors (Plates 7 @Bl These not only
demonstrate that the engine was of double-beangresut also that the bed
was erected to approximately first-floor level, gp@und floor, which would
have been almost entirely filled with the massilacks of the engine bed, not
requiring daylight, and therefore placing the windoonly at first-floor level.
The flywheel was placed centrally between the twasmilocks of the bed, in
the northern part of the engine house, with a piniheel driving the first
motion shaft into the main spinning block to thestygust below the ceiling
level of the ground floor, adjacent to the northeatumn row. The cylinders
were housed at the rear of the engine, adjacetitecstair tower, with the
condensers placed within recesses within the eriggdeat ground-floor level.
Thus the majority of the engine structure was planghe southern part of the
engine house, allowing maximum lighting through th# windows in the
north wall.

4.2.16 The ceiling above the engine beams retained tvge laross beams (Plate 34),
which would have been used to carry the load oktigine during installation
and maintenance. The tie bolts for the top beavintipe upright shaft, placed
on the opposite side of the wall, were located imtiately below these beams,
and provided the only evidence for the positiorthe primary motion shaft
within the engine house (Plate 34). The ceilingtted northern bay of the
engine house was not required for functional lgffiand had a false lath and
plaster ceiling with decorative cornice and a anteiling rose with leaf
motif (Plate 35). This provided a fine example diet architectural
embellishment frequently undertaken within suchudtires, even within
relatively utilitarian buildings. Engine houses aew® the feature-pieces of
textile mill complexes after around 1825 (Giles adbodall 1992),
presumably as owners wanted to showcase their rmweklarger engines, as a
measure of their wealth and success. Decoratiatgrlaeilings were common
from this time, as at Old Lane Mill, Halifax, eredtby 1828 ipid), whilst
column decoration within the engine house, andeh&blature beam they
supported would have had at least the same measareamentation as those
within the remainder of the structure. Whilst thésel all been removed, the
wall sockets for the entablature beam, construofeldrge ashlar sandstone
blockwork, were visible in the external elevatiarighe engine house at third-
floor level (Plate 18), and further similar sockgr®sumably related to the
structure of the beam floor, and of the principth@hment points of the
engine itself.
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Plate 33: Large round-headed windows and decoratiiing, engine house
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Plate 34: Lifting beams below engine house roat we bolts for the rear of the top bearing of the
upright shaft immediately below

Plate 35: Detail of decorative plaster ceiling witmorth bay of engine house
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4.2.17 Several infilled square apertures in the dividingllvat ground-floor ceiling
level within the bay to the east of the engine leopresent end bearings for
the line shafting. One undoubtedly housed a pringugft from the engine,
whilst that mis-aligned with the line shafting withthis part of the mill
probably housed the steam pipe from the boiletekgcengine.

4.2.18 Prior to 1893, the spinning block was extended tereastern side with the
addition of four bays (Plate 36). The southern dacaf the extension was
recessed slightly behind the quoined return ofahginal structure, whilst to
the north it enveloped the square base of the adyn{Rlate 37), and was
keyed into the original facade. This was undertakesuch a high quality that
the joint, which was probably partially concealeghimd a rainwater
downpipe, is not visible. However, the stoneworkhe east had slightly less
pronounced rustication, a feature common to theerotiwo faces of the
extension. The extension appears to have been takdar primarily to
increase the capacity of the power plant, and pexviaccommodation for a
bank of Lancashire boilers at ground-floor leveleTiront elevation had four
distinctive round-headed arched openings, each reksdd stone, with
projecting keys, each affording access to the boliarging platforms.

4.2.19 Floor level within the boiler house was placed gigantly below that of the
road and the main block of the mill to allow coal lte off-loaded to the
charging platform more easily. The boilers were @14m) long, with the
position of the damper control rods, controlling thow of exhaust gases at
the rear of each boiler, marked by pulleys attadbdtie ceiling beams (Plate
38). These were somewhat unusually of timber, simd those in the western
part of the mill, carried on tall 9" (0.23m) diareetcolumns with simple
flanged heads above astragals (Plate 39), typfdhledate nineteenth century,
but with all but two having been removed during sduent remodelling of
the room, following the removal of the boilers (el40).

4.2.20 The northern bay of the ground floor of the extensivas partitioned from the
boiler house by a substantial stone wall. At itstesan end, a short flue of
refractory brick led to the base of the chimneya{(®$ 41 and 42). This almost
certainly formed the bypass flue and an accessaking out, the main flue
passing through an economiser, which was placeth@nvestern side of the
chimney, immediately to the rear of the boilers.fdtunately, this was
remodelled subsequently into an electricity suliesta The upper part of the
bypass flue appeared to have been removed, anaceeblvith a thin metal
sheet capping (Plate 42), which formed the baselmick tower, constructed
on the southern side of the chimney (Plate 37)s Huiggests that the flue
provided heat to the tower, which was probably use@ drying tower, with
access above a further metal sheet floor from withe mill extension at first-
and second-floor level (Plate 43). The structurkictv was of machine-made
brick (not engineering brick) construction, in featretcher English Garden
Wall bond, was infested with pigeons at all levalsd could not be examined
in any detail. It appears to have been construettdn a natural gap between
the mill extension, the northern extent of whichsvaefined by the consistent
roof span width, continued from the earlier stroefithe new roof being of
only triple span to the south of the chimney (P&
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Plate 36: Southern face of the extension to thennmall building, principally erected as a boiler hse

Plate 37: Original chimney and gable of easterreaston of the preparation block
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Plate 38: Pulley for damper rod at rear of boiler

Plate 39: Typical Victorian column capital in exston of three-storey mill
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Plate 40: View of remodelled boiler house in eas&xtension of mill

Plate 41: Iron door on access / bypass flue frortelb®to chimney
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Plate 42: Detail of bypass flue

Plate 43: Ceiling beams housed in return of nortilwf eastern extension of mill
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4.2.21 At first- and second-floor level, the eastern egien was of similar
construction to the western part of the mill, comsipg non-fireproof
construction with timber beams carried by flutedtdgeon columns (Plate 44).
However, the arrangement of ceiling beams diffenetthe northern part of the
extension, where the building narrowed around thimoey. Unlike the south
wall, which comprised four bays, each with a windamd with transverse
ceiling beams on columns rows placed at the midipof the intervening
piers (Plate 44), the north wall, which was muchbrsdr, contained only two
windows, within wider bays than those to the sodilsingle transverse beam
was placed between the windows, again on a difteabgnment than those
from the south (Plate 45). In order to accommodaése offset timbers, the
eastern beam was housed in the wall of the rettound the chimney (Plate
43), with a perpendicular timber spanning the esitamfrom the corner of the
return (Plate 43). This was supported at its migtply a column, which had
a T-shaped head plate, carrying both the cross baaththe beam between
the two windows of the northern part of the extens{Plate 46). The two
remaining beams from the south wall were attacbdti¢ southern face of the
cross beam by channel-section cast-iron brackéase@43 and 46), typically
used for jointing ceiling beams, particularly trirara. Only one of these
beams had sockets for floor joists suggesting @sse from an earlier
structure. The trusses above the extension wesarolar width and design to
those in the spinning block, but without the wrougbn king tie rods (Plate
44). The eaves were sealed with lath and plastiéh, & suspended ceiling
across the northern bay, immediately above therd@udin.

Plate 44:Roof construction in eastern extensiomibif
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Plate 45: Offset beams within ceiling constructwithin eastern extension of mill, first floor

Plate 46: T-shaped column capital, and hangershiling beams, eastern extension of mill
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4.2.22 At both first- and second-floor level, the extemsietained evidence for line
shafting in the form of bolts protruding from beawffits (Plate 47) and end
bearing boxes in the eastern wall (Plate 48). Dmathe first floor was offset
from the line shaft from the main mill, with additial bolt holes showing the
position of the hanger for a belt transferring powe a second shaft. This
second shaft appeared to have been associatedawstender, perforated,
inverted fish-bellied beam which had a sliding &aper in its soffit (Plate 47).
On the upper floor the end bearing was relativehate (Plate 48), forming a
corbel for the bearing, rather than it being reedswithin the wall, again
suggesting a bevel gear or horizontal drive belt.

Plate 47: Perforated fish-bellied beam with botis line shaft hanger on adjacent beam,
eastern extension of mill

Plate 48: Ornate end bearing of line shaft, sectiadr, eastern extension of mill
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4.3

4.3.1

4.3.2

WEAVING SHEDS

The earliest weaving shed appeared to have fornmaatl qf the initial
construction of the complex, although its smallesizould suggest that this
was undertaken on a somewhat experimental bagierrthan the mill being
erected as a fully integrated concern.

The original weaving shed was irregular in platiofeing the boundary of the

site along Edge End Clough (Plates 2 and 3), etemtethe opposite side of
the spinning block to the engine house, allowirggehsy transfer of power via
a horizontal shaft well above head level acrosstthek. The shed was of
similar style to the spinning block, with 18" (0 thick walls, dressed on
their external faces, and of rubble constructiderimally. The building had a
maximum of five bays width, and comprised a 13 spamh-light saw-toothed

roof, with cast-iron valley gutters supported on(8713m) diameter hollow

cylindrical columns, similar in design to thosetbé& main building, but with

flat, ribbed heads above the fluting (Plate 49).

Plate 49: View of original weaving shed, with irtser partitions

4.3.3 The columns were placed between alternate bayf@madst/west axis, with

line shaft hanger brackets forming part of the dedusection valley beams of
the north light roof at the remaining bay divisioii$iis gave an arrangement
of 10 x 10'6" bays (3.05 x 3.20m), with columns avetaced on 21' (4.41m)

centres on the east/west axis. Only the northema fows of columns had

bolting surfaces for line shafting, and these hashaped sockets for wedge-
style adjustment, similar to those of the grourmbiflin the spinning block

(Plate 50). A row of vertical bolt pairs, which wdihave housed hangers for
a shaft along the west wall were observed alongntse length.
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Plate 50: Column capital in original weaving shedth line shaft bolting plate

4.3.4 The southern part of the shed was heavily remadighethe mid- to late
twentieth century, when the sheds were used fdildecoating. The columns
were also laterally braced by straining rods, tbkimn capitals including a
flange on either side to receive the rod ends €P38). This shows a relatively
high level of sophistication in the roof constrocij as straining rods were
often simply clamped to the valley beams. The its&if was of asymmetrical
design, with a glazed steeper north pitch allowewgn lighting of the shed,
without direct sunlight. Its construction was agasomewhat unusual,
comprising a mixture of iron and timber membergspmably to reduce cost.
It comprised cast iron 12 x 9" (0.30 x 0.23m) chalrsection valley beams,
each incorporating 5 x 4¥" (0.13 x 0.11m) castaregtilar housings for stop-
chamfered % x 4¥4" (0.08 x 0.11m) timber rafters on 7' (2.13rentres on
the southern side of each beam (Plates 51 and 52).
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Plate 51: Timber rafters with sockets in cast-ir@iley beams, weaving shed

Plate 52: Detail of stop-chamfered timber raftesisting in valley beam, and lead transom
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4.3.5 The north pitch was infilled with glass panes witiead transoms on 2'
(0.61m) centres (Plate 52). The south pitch coredris x 1%2" (0.13 x 0.04m)
edge-set timber rafters on 16" (0.41m) centrestéP3&). These were birds-
mouth jointed onto the gutter of the channel-sectralley beams, with the
entire south pitch being covered with lath and tglasAt its insertion into the
western parapet wall, the roofing material compgrisandstone flags (Plate
54), and whilst these were frequently used as lagaings on mill roofs, it is
probable that this represented the roofing mateaflthe entire roof
throughout most of its life. The ridge was lattedfy V-section ceramic tile,
although these may represent replacements. Noreader ventilators within
the ridge were observed, these probably deemedcassary for controlling
the humidity of such a small shed.

Plate 53: South pitch of saw-toothed roof, weawhgd

Plate 54: Original sandstone flag roof tiles, westeveaving shed
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4.3.6 The valleys drained through 4%2” down pipes pladedagthe eastern wall of
the shed. These fed a further channel-sectioniastinternal gutter of 10”
(0.25m) width and 5Y%” (0.14m) height, which wasitspbove the third bay
from the north wall (Plate 55), with the northeettson draining through the
parapet wall into a downpipe against the principleade. The extent of the
southern gutter remained unknown, but it presumadbéyned into Edge End
Clough beyond the southern limit of the shed. Ttwtlgern part of the shed
had been heavily remodelled in the mid to late tie¢im century, when it was
converted for textile coating applications, withaege brick tower and several
smaller units inserted along the southern sidaé®fhed (Plate 56).

Plate 55: Northern internal channel-section roottgu in eastern weaving shed

Plate 56: View of weaving shed roofs, with lateickistructures to the rear
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4.3.7 The west wall housed several blocked and inserpeditares, demonstrating
the changing use of the structure, much of whicls \wasociated with the
erection of a much larger shed on its westernisid&64. Original access was
almost certainly as that retained, at the westarh & the north wall, and a
large blocked window in the west wall in this neviestern bay matched
those which were placed along the length of théhnaall, and in the northern
three bays of the east wall, beyond the dog-lehp@f&hed, suggesting that the
northern part of the shed was used for warehousnagoffices.

4.3.8 The expansion of the weaving shed appears to haieklyg followed the
construction of the mill, presumably as the smadleed proved a success. It
was constructed along the Burnley Road frontage8@é4, and was joined to
the spinning block by a decorative arch, the kewstof which bore a stamp of
that date (Plate 57). A plaque in the gable abaueséd a crest, and the name
‘Reeds Holme Works’, whilst the keystone of thehaatso bore the initials H
G&J; the G and H presumably standing for George ¢tdw The arch would
have controlled access into the mill complex, andatehouse/office was
placed in the adjacent bay of the shed. No accessafforded directly from
Burnley Road into the shed, although doorways weckided into the office
block in the north-west corner of the shed (Pl&g 5

Plate 57: Decorative plaque and dated keystone altlog entrance to the mill complex
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Plate 58: Burnley Road frontage of the office blackl weaving shed

4.3.9 The 14-bay wide extension survived to only 19 blygth, the remaining
bays having been removed in the late twentiethucgnAs in the earlier shed
to the east, each bay was supported on its noutfVsaxis by a 5" (0.13m)
diameter column with similarly fluted capital. Tleogn the eastern bay had
cast-iron brackets attached to their western s{tkate 59), and alternate
columns in this row also had 5 x 2" (0.13 x 0.03mrglass-shaped cast-iron
rollers clamped to the column, 7' (0.18m) aboverflevel (Plate 59). These
were twisted to all faces, whilst a similar rowhohckets, 7'6" (2.29m) above
floor height on the penultimate western row of cohs, were all aligned on
the west face. These were secondary additionset@dlumns, and were also
placed on the top floor of the spinning block (BI&0), housing heating pipes,
which could expand and contract on the roller. &miollers were used to
house later pipework within the later structureth® south-east (Plate 61).

4.3.10 The columns of the northern 15 bays had line dtefiger bolting plates, with
T-shaped sockets, on their southern face (Platea®2)id the extant examples
in the penultimate bay. Those in thé"ligay, however, had bolting plates on
both faces (Plate 63), and were placed with a rdiffespacing to those to the
north, 26’ (7.92m) apart. The lateral bracing braising rods, of these offset
columns of the 18 bay was achieved by stirrups to the valley bearthéo
north (Plate 64). This method was also used imtr¢hern part of the shed,
where the two eastern columns of the third bay vedfeet. These were not
only braced between the valleys by stirrups, buewengitudinally braced by
a double straining rod which passed over a tensgpiiar (Plate 65). This
appears to represent a remodelling of this parthefshed, as the columns
were of plain flanged type (Plate 65), similar hoge within the boiler house
extension, and those used to support a first-flearkshop inserted above the
eastern weaving shed. Their insertion created rmpaee in this part of the
shed, suggesting improved access, and possiblyestgythat the cellar, the
entrance for which was placed almost immediatelyh® north, against the
western wall, may also have been built at this time
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Plate 59: Heating pipe bracket with additional cane-ribbed bracket above, weaving shed

Plate 60: Heating pipe bracket with chain for attacent to the column, second floor, spinning block
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Plate 61: In-situ water pipe on later bracket, imporating similar rollers to those attached to colns
elsewhere within the complex

Plate 62: Detail of weaving shed column capitahwitshaped mounting sockets
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Plate 63: Detail of weaving shed column capitalﬁ‘{‘ bay, with double bolting plate
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Plate 64: Stirrup for straining bar attachment talley beam

Plate 65: Replaced column with longitudinal tenggnbar

4.3.11 The north wall, fronting the entrance alley, hadZ13m) high, 5' (1.52m)
wide windows (all refenestrated) in the easternbas, suggesting use as
warehousing or workshops, although no separatareregs were provided into
this area of the shed. The western bay housedottteotling ‘Christmas Tree’
valve of the sprinkler system, and although this whvery late date, a Mather
& Platt alarm bell placed on the adjacent wall f@elate 66), suggests that the
earlier control valve for the shed was placed &mailar position.
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Plate 66: Mather & Platt cover plate for sprinklsystem alarm bell

4.3.12 The western end of this frontage returned to aetiway deep, two-bay wide,
covered loading bay (Plate 67). This had a cebtrél.52m) wide doorway in
the east wall, but this was replaced subsequentlg barrower 2'6" (0.76m)
door at the northern end of the wall. A dresseddstame platform at the
southern end of the loading bay had steps on issene side, and had a central
5' (1.52m) doorway into the weaving shed (Plate 872'6" (0.76m) dressed
doorway at the northern end of the west wall atbordccess into the street
level office block fronting Burnley Road (Plate 67he west wall of the
loading bay also retained a small bearing box, Wwhappears to have
represented an end bearing for the northern liredt sbf the shed, which
continued across the loading bay, presumably toep@hoist (Plate 67). The
northern four bays of the Burnley Road office blqmojected 6" (0.15m)
further onto the street frontage than the shedht douth, housing three
dressed windows and two entrance doorways (Plate/iBwere formed of
high quality ashlar block, with projecting keys &bdanlights to the round-
headed doorways, and projecting moulded canopiegeathe window lintels
(Plate 58).
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Plate 67: Loading bay of western weaving shed

4.3.13 Two windows in the adjacent bays were almost adstanserted when the
offices were extended into the original shed witidartitions. The office in
the north-west corner had tiled flooring on a ceterbase, forming a 5'
(1.52m) wide corridor along the north wall, returgiinto a 3' (0.91m) wide
corridor along the east wall, retaining herring-baderracotta tiling (Plate 68),
suggesting early twentieth-century renovation @f dffices. The main office
bounded by these corridors had a sprung timber ladrogged brick sleeper
walls (Plate 69), made of brick with a ‘Plastic N&entury Darwen’ stamp
(Plate 70), also suggesting an early twentiethtogndlate of refurbishment.
The original partitions within the block were ofllfbrick thickness, and were
rendered, with a decorative cornice to a lath aladter suspended ceiling
(Plate 71), and a dado rail being included in trenager’s office, which also
contained a fireplace, blocked subsequently foritisertion of a safe (Plate
72). This office had an entrance from Burnley Roed, a vestibule also
affording access into the front office (Plate 68)small office to the rear of
the manager’s office was probably for administratiand accounts, and
despite being remodelled into a corridor when tnege was extended to the
south, it still retained storage for accounts @I&3). The front office also had
a suspended ceiling, incorporating a round quaight-skylight and timber
ventilation hood (Plates 69 and 74). However a obyoist sockets at window
head height on the north wall suggests that tlgced an earlier ceiling. The
northern bay of the office, and the weaving shethéoeast had a symmetrical
roof, rather than the asymmetric north-light desgjesewhere. Within the
weaving shed, this was covered on both pitches wiguspended lath and
plaster ceiling (Plate 75).
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Plate 68: Tiled floor within weaving shed officetk

Plate 69: Sprung floor of office and entrance Jasdg
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Plate 70: Stamped brick from remodelled floor dicef

Plate 71: Decorative cornice to suspended ceilingnanager’s office
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Plate 72: Safe inserted within fireplace in manageiffice

Plate 73: Invoices within office block

For the use of Allied Textiles Ltd © OA North: September 2012



Reeds Holme Mill, Burnley Road, Rawtenstall, Lahgas Archaeological Building Investigation 60

Plate 74: Skylight and ventilation hood within maiifice

Plate 75: Suspended ceiling within north bay of vieg shed
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4.3.14 The office range was extended subsequently to do¢hsinto the weaving
shed with single-skin brick partitions. Steps upnirthe manager’s office and
from the newly formed corridor to the east, proddecess from the street-
level office to the higher level shed, with a glzenber partition forming the
corridor between two columns along the eastern sfdine extension (Plate
76). Two privies and three rooms, presumably famiadstrative staff were
included, all probably dating from the change o€ wghen the shed was
bought by JB Broadley in the 1930s.

Plate 76: Inserted brick and timber partitions epgihg original columns within weaving shed
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4.3.15 Further south along the Burnley Road facade ofstbaving shed, for a length
of 14.5m, the lower 5'6" (1.68m) of the internallwWace was rebated by 52"
(0.14m) above a 7" (0.18m) sandstone block plimtte stonework above was
very ragged, clearly showing it to be an insertebate, the back of which
comprised hand-made brick, typically 9" %'2(0.23 x 0.07m), suggesting a
relatively early date. Two 7" (0.18m) diameter degged down pipes went
through the sill of the rebate, into an appareildwdloor chamber which had
three stone-blocked arched entrances towards tiheso end of the extant
external elevation (Plate 77). These appear to Faweed a low basement in
the southern part of the shed, which early phofgaggahow to have continued
to the south to the original southern extent of shed. Although the fall of
Burnley Road from the north of the shed down thiéeyas not substantial, it
was significant enough to allow a shallow basentertbe placed from road
level at the southern end of the shed under apmabely one quarter of the
shed. Whilst access was into this basement wagaioed, its construction
was probably similar to a further small cellar gdcadjacent to the access
alley on the northern side of the shed. This wasbably constructed
concurrently with the western expansion of the slaadl straddled both the
early and later phases of the building, comprighrge fireproof brick arched
bays (Plates 78 and 79). A central straight stdag &d into the slightly
larger western chamber, whilst the eastern stalir seatinued to form a 2'6"
(0.76m) partition between the two rooms (Plate B&th had a single column
of 7" (0.18m) diameter, supporting each ceilingrbeahich comprised a 9%2"
(0.24m) wide inverted T-section cast-iron ceilirepn to each arch (Plate 80).

4.3.16 Both rooms had a 5' (1.52m) wide cellar light te #iley between the weaving
shed and the spinning block (Plate 79). The ceakdained a continuous
flagstone floor, which had a 1' (0.30m) wide 3'08m) deep gutter around the
perimeter, which presumably had a drain into areree culvert at some
point. Timber rollers, which appeared to be loomarbe, dumped below the
stairs probably derived from machines used witte weaving shed. The
eastern room had a brick structure inserted aastern end within the central
bay (Plate 79). This was filled with radiators prio the survey, suggesting its
use as a drying room. Its construction was remamsof an air-raid shelter,
which may have been its original function. In thentte of the north wall
within the eastern part of the cellar, a 4' (1.22mdle, 5'9" (1.75m) high
passage led beneath the alley to the spinning hiBke 81). It had white
glazed brick walls, constructed in stretcher bomith blue glazing in two of
the lowest four courses (Plate 82). It conveyedrakler pipe into the eastern
part of the shed (Plates 81 and 83) and was crdssadb2" (0.27m) diameter
iron pipe (Plate 81), presumably a drain. At itsthern end, the passage dog
legged and was blocked with glazed white brick @an 8" (0.20m) thick
concrete slab and a machine made brick wall inetread five stretcher
English Garden Wall bond (Plate 83). This presumdibbcked an entrance
from the stair tower, although there was no evidefar this surviving at
ground level within the mill. Its position appea&sslead directly to the bottom
of the stair newel, again correlating with its tsé¢ransfer the sprinkler system
from the header tank within the stair tower, anggasting that it was blocked
when the electric lift was installed. However, ghli fitting at the northern end
of the passage demonstrated its survival well iiotwentieth century.
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Plate 77: Ragged brick-lined rebate within westlvediweaving shed

Plate 78: Brick arched ceiling and stair wall withivestern part of cellar
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Plate 79: Eastern cellar, with cellar light to ajieand inserted brick chamber

Plate 80: Detail of brick arch construction in stakell of cellar
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Plate 81: Tunnel beneath alley from eastern cetltestair tower

Plate 82: Detail of glazed decorative brickwork hifit tunnel
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Plate 83: Blocking wall at northern end of tunnel
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4.3.17 Whilst tunnels between spinning blocks and weavsigeds were often
associated with power transfer, this would seery uetfikely in this case, as a
very simple linkage from the engine to the enlargeéd was achieved at
ground floor level. It has already been argued thative shaft ran directly
from the upright shaft along the eastern wall o thain spinning block,
which was aligned directly with the dividing walktween the two weaving
sheds. Whilst this wall retained coursed stonevabrgarapet level only on its
western face (Plate 56), demonstrating this to laignally been an external
face, within the shed both walls were of randonbtelronstruction. This wall
was 6” (0.15m) thicker than those of the origifad, and would have to have
been significantly remodelled to carry the mainvershaft and associated
gearing required to power over 20 line shafts thate originally contained
within. 14" (0.36m) wide, 18" (0.46m) high mouldeshndstone corbels
projected 21" (0.53m) from the wall face immediati the south of the roof
valley within each bay (Plate 84). The sandstomellwhich was relatively
ornate, with moulded faces and convex corbelliag, through the full width
of the wall, being placed flush with the wall fa¢ewas supported, above and
below, by dressed stone blocks in the western faa#, forming an I-shaped
block of dressed stone (Plate 85), and with a &urtiressed block of similar
length placed slightly lower in the wall above aadiniblocked aperture that
allowed tie-down bolts to be tensioned (Plate 85).

4.3.18 The reason these corbels were so heavily bracddnvitie wall was that they
each not only carried the bearings of the mainedskaft, but also housed a
bevel gear for individual counter shafts from thaimdrive shaft to power the
rows of looms. It is almost certain that the mayoof the wall was entirely
rebuilt for the insertion of the tie-down bolts,dans thickness increased,
leading to it being of rubble construction on bfatbes. The corbels in the first
and sixteenth bays had been cut flush with the veak, and the sandstone
housing adjacent to the north wall had been ctienposition of the tie down
bolt for the enlargement or insertion of a wide meay. In the second bay, a 2'
(0,61m) square bearing box translated power ingoedirlier shed to the east,
presumably replacing the original drive shaft whesttered the shed from the
eastern side of the engine house. The apertutthddoearing box in the north
wall of the shed was apparently removed during eéntargement of the
doorway in the eastern bay, whilst that in the Boull of the spinning block
was placed immediately adjacent to a skylight abavdoorway, and was
removed subsequently, with the stone infilling lod facade being undertaken
using smaller blocks than present in the surrougdiall face (Plate 86).
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Plate 84: Sandstone corbels for drive shaft beeealrg, east wall of western weaving shed

Plate 85: Housing for sandstone corbel on revease fof wall, with tie-down bolt aperture below

For the use of Allied Textiles Ltd © OA North: September 2012



Reeds Holme Mill, Burnley Road, Rawtenstall, Lahgas Archaeological Building Investigation 69

Plate 86: Infilled drive shaft aperture to right fanlight

4.3.19 The dividing wall between the sheds housed sevexédnt and blocked
apertures. A stone-blocked doorway in tH Bhy (from the northern end)
appears to have provided the original communicabenveen the two sheds,
whilst the extant door to the south was inserteg|acing a 7' (2.13m) wide
stone, sooty mortared doorway, blocked with stooeded in a dark sooty
mortar only 6' (1.83m) to the south (Plate 85). Amdoor to the south had
single-piece vertical sandstone jambs, and appeaginal, as do two 3'
(0.91m) wide doorways separated by a 2'1" (0.64idgwier (Plate 87). Both
were blocked, but probably led to original priviesith a stone trough
spanning the wall thickness 3' to the north; tlad been removed prior to the
survey (Plate 87), although the drain and seatorgttie trough were still
visible (Plate 88). The privies were placed immtaiato the south of the
external wall of the original shed, suggesting tthety were contemporary
with the western shed, rather than relating toetlrier structure.

4.3.20 The roof structure in the northern 16 bays was atnentical to that in the
original eastern element of the shed. The only madde difference between
the two sheds was the use of V-section ceramieridigs with a hollow rolled
cap, and the inclusion of three rows of cowled N&tars on the ridge of each
span (Plate Plates 54 and 56). However, to thehsauhbere the column
positioning also changed, the timber rafters ofribehern pitch of each roof
was replaced with a T-section cast-iron membenyiare typical of a weaving
shed roof (Plate 89). Also, at the junction withe tparapet wall in this
position, there was no evidence for the use of stané flag flashings,
suggesting that the extant lead was used abovehV8klte, which formed the
remnants of the extant roofing material. Whilstréhes no evidence for the
extension of the shed in either the east or wedis whese factors suggest a
southward extension of the shed, possibly incotpagahe basement, which
appears to have only extended to this point frore #outhern side.
Furthermore, whilst the columns were generally lbé tsame design as
elsewhere in the weaving shed (except those oIGﬁebay), the corbels in the
east wall of the shed were slightly shorter andewidven though of generally
similar style (Plate 90). It is therefore probattiat the southern three bays of
the extant shed represent its further enlargenaémipst certainly that referred
to in the local newspaper of 1886ection 3.1.Above).
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Plate 87: Privy entrances in east wall of westerawing shed, with aperture for removed
stone trough

Plate 88: Housing and drain for removed stone tioug

4.3.21 As in the eastern shed, the valleys of the roofewdrained into an internal
gutter, carried on 6" (0.15m) wide, 7" (0.18m) highamfered sandstone
corbels projecting 9" (0.23m) from the wall facéate 77). The gutter fed the
two dog-legged downpipes recessed within the westell face Section
4.3.11above).
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Plate 89: T-section cast-iron rafters of weavingdlextension

Plate 90: Original drive shaft corbel (left) andcemdary corbel (right)
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4.3.22 A seven bay, dog-legged, first-floor workshop wasceed above the eastern
side of the weaving shed, and was of four-stretéimglish Garden Wall bond
construction in engineering brick, externally clad rusticated sandstone
block, matching the earlier structures (Plate 9f)was carried above the
weaving shed on heavily rivetted 12" (0.30m) widsettion steel beams
(Plate 92) supported by 9" (0.23m) diameter columits simple diminished
astragals and flanged capitals, typical of the Vattorian period. The floor
mainly comprised performed vaulted and ribbed cetecpanels (Plate 92),
although the southern bay also included a rowrobér joists and some fish
bellied steel plates adjacent to the south walictwiwvas of brick construction,
and almost certainly of a contemporary date (F38)e

Plate 91: Dog-legged workshops added above easteaving shed

4.3.23 A concrete stair latterly afforded access to theksimops which had late stud
partitions except for an earlier, possibly origighzed office in the north-
western corner of the structure, constructed oriléa (8.94m) plinth of full
brick thickness (Plate 94). The building had tweeflight windows in the east
wall adjacent to a gabled hoist (Plate 91), whi@swnirrored on the western
wall, housing a blocked offset doorway onto the vueg shed roof. The west
wall had two narrower five-light windows to the titoand a panelled hatch to
the south which was presumably originally identit@ithe three, three-light
windows further along the west wall (Plate 95). 8ay the hoist, the eastern
wall returned 18’ (5.48m) further to the east, abav dog-leg in the shed
below (Fig; Plate 91). The angled southward retirthis wall latterly formed
a corridor to offices, and had no windows (Platg 96
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Plate 92: Rivetted I-section beams and late coluoamgying first floor workshops

Plate 93: Concrete, timber, and iron sheet flooficst-floor workshops
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Plate 94: Northern workshop, with partitioned offi north-west corner

Plate 95: Southern first-floor workshop

4.3.24 The roof comprised simple collared common rafteards (Plates 94 and 95),
with a channel-section valley carried on an |-sect8teel beam with a second
roof span in the irregular angle of the shed oredstern side (Plate 96). The
original access to the block was via a doorwayhertorth wall which led to a
walkway to the first floor of the spinning blockl@es 36 and 97), first shown
on the Ordnance Survey map of 1930 (Plate 4).Uhidear whether there was
any original access to the weaving shed, althobghmorkshops were clearly
related to processes occurring in the easternddittee spinning block, rather
than in the shed below.
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Plate 96: Additional roof span in above easterresid dog-legged workshops

Plate 97: Doorway and wall scar for walkway betweeain mill and workshops above weaving shed
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4.4 STABLE BLOCK

4.4.1 A relatively ornate stable block was placed to ¢last of the weaving sheds,
beyond a small courtyard. Whilst its exact datearfstruction is unclear, it
was of similar style to thosa-situ by 1864, and was certainly erected prior to
the Ordnance Survey first edition map of 1893 @&ig

4.4.2 The two-storey, six-bay structure was built of losandstone, coursed and
rusticated on its principal, western elevation, éutubble construction on the
other elevations (Plates 98 and 99). The northasnHad a remodelled wide
doorway in the wider western bay, originally formithe cart shed, with an
office above, presumably for the head coachmars Tad a hipped roof to a
chimney placed on the ridge of the dividing walthe stable block (Plate 99),
which had an entrance to what was presumably artawk and stairwell at its
northern end, and an extant 4'6” (1.37m) wide dayrwproviding access for
the horses, towards its southern end (Fig; Plate™8s was more decorative
than that to the north, being of similar, althouggimewhat simpler, style to
those in the Burnley Road facade of the weavingl £8ection 4.3.1@&bove),
and possibly suggestive of a similar date of casion. A metal fan grill to
the fanlight above this doorway bore the initialBB’ (Plate 100), presumably
inserted when the block was converted to workslamgsa garage by the new
owner after 1930. Three round ‘ox-eye’ windows akowith similar rubbed
sandstone dressing and projecting voiussoirs (P8¢ were latterly
decorative, although the southern two examples stinoertainly served
originally as pitching holes to the hayloft. Vediavindows in the south wall
provided light into both the tack room and the Eailock, whilst the office
on the upper floor also had a square window inribehern bay of the east
wall (Plate 99).

Plate 98: Western fagade of stable block
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Plate 99: Random rubble eastern elevation of staldek

Plate 100: JBB initialled fanlight grill above emtnce into stable
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4.4.3

4.4.4

4.4.5

Internally, the stable was of relatively high sgtwith timber panelling to the
west and north walls, a lath and plaster ceiling arplaster cornice adjacent
to the walls and ceiling beams (Plates 101 and.IU#ee feeding holes from
the loft placed against the east wall, demonstréedposition of the stalls
(Plate 102). The majority of the original floor walso retained, comprising 4
x 3' (1.22 x 0.91m) flagstones, with the southeth(B.35m) of the building
retaining a cobbled stone sett floor (Plate 108)s Bppeared to form the floor
of a 13' (3.96m) square loose box in the south-wester of the stable, with
diagonal stone channels running into a centralndvathin the floor (Plate
103). The southern 7' (2.13m) section of a sim#faf0.10m) wide manuring
passage survived 32" (0.81m) from the west walk €hiling was carried on
two timber beams, each originally supported by atredly placed 434"
(0.12m) diameter cast-iron columns. The southers ieenoved subsequently,
whilst the northern example retained a simple eh@nhd head plate (Plate
104).

Two rendered wall scars in the east wall appeaepoesent blocked windows,
blocked during the construction of a late singtarey brick shed to the east. It
is unclear, given the lime-washed wall finish, wiestthese apertures formed
part of the original construction, or were insergaring its conversion to
workshops to improve the light. The building wastamly remodelled for use
as an engineering shop, presumably shortly after tdansfer to motor
transport. Not only were all the stalls removed, ibappears that a line shaft
was placed along the eastern wall, presumably veeptathes and drills. Two
hangers remained-situ (Plate 105), whilst the timber pads and bolt hdbes
three further hangers were observed (Plate 102).

A wall of full-brick thickness in six-stretcher Elgh Garden Wall bond
formed a partition to the present stair well, apdears original. The stair and
northern wall appear inserted, however, but eattian the concrete stair and
doorway inserted into the east wall to give actedbe late brick shed to the
east. The door in the west wall appears to havginally accessed the
coachman'’s office, which was timber panelled wittolked cornice, and had a
large fireplace with rolled sandstone mantle pi@céts north wall (Plate 106),
and an eight-light top vent window in the west walmilar to those in the
stable (Plate 98). Two steps afforded access doterthe coach house, which
had a flagstone floor and wide doorway in the weall. This was latterly
used as a maintenance garage, and it is uncledhevibe braced joist ceiling
was originally exposed, or represents a replacement
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Plate 101: Interior of stables with timber-panelieslls

Plate 102: Detailed of decorative ceiling, feedhmes, and line shaft hanger mountings
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Plate 103: Cobble setts and drain within loose box

Plate 104: Detail of column capital, stable block
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Plate 105: In-situ line shaft hangers, stable block

For the use of Allied Textiles Ltd © OA North: September 2012



Reeds Holme Mill, Burnley Road, Rawtenstall, Lahgas Archaeological Building Investigation 82

Plate 106: Ornate fire surround and timber pandilitoachman'’s office
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4.4.6 The first floor was accessed by straight stair wmitine ground-floor corridor,
although this presumably lay originally within thbeachman’s office. It gave
access into a large open-plan room, open to thersahbove four simple
braced timber trusses (Plate 107), and with twd-&uted purlins to each
pitch. All walls were internally of random rubblercstruction, with three
vertical windows in the east wall and brick linedde ox-eye windows in the
front western elevation (Plate 107). A single-shick partition formed an
office at the northern end, with a door in the hostall to an external stair
(removed subsequently), and a fireplace in the ewesside of the brick
chimney breast (Plate 108). This rose from the mloiloor, and had a stone
stack, dressed on its north and south faces beldered sandstone flag
capping (Plate 109). The floor comprised transv@tsgd.18m) boards, most
of which were rotten, reducing access.

Plate 107: Hayloft above stables
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Plate 108: Fireplace within first floor office

Plate 109: Dressed stone chimney stack, above padition wall
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5. DISCUSSION

5.1

5.1.1

5.2

521

5.2.2

INTRODUCTION

The buildings are mostly of multi-phase construttiand retain significant
archaeological evidence for the processes undertakiehin, and for the

power-management systems employed. One of thedayres of the Reeds
Holme Mill complex is the variety of structures thsurvive, even within

relatively few buildings, providing physical evidenfor the complete process
of mid-nineteenth-century integrated textile miflowever, whilst the survey
has identified several phases of expansion withi@ tomplex of extant
structures, its rapid growth and similarity of atebtural styles makes the
dating of these changes very reliant on the doctamgsources.

PHASE 1

The complex originated in the 1850s, and appearbaie been intended
primarily as a cotton-spinning mill, but with anpapent intention to operate
an integrated process if a small-scale weaving giteded successful. The
original buildings comprised the three-storey spigrblock of non-fireproof

construction, with an integrated engine house, ingus double-beam engine,
and with a fireproof preparation block on its eastside. A small weaving
shed was placed opposite the eastern end of tHe andl its shape and
placement strongly suggests that its expansiomftth the vacant site to the
Burnley Road frontage was already planned at thges

The ground floor of the spinning block was probabsed for machines that
finished the preparatory process started in threpfoof bays to the east of the
engine house. It appears that only the upper taarglwere used for spinning,
and whilst the inventories of 1925 and 1931 readrdeg-spinning frames
within the mill, it is unlikely that these represehe original type of spinning
machinery installed, as ring spinning was not agdptidely in England until
the late nineteenth and early twentieth centutiedeed, the first known mill
in Lancashire dedicated to ring spinning was builMilnrow, near Oldham,
for the New Ladyhouse Cotton Spinning Company ia71lg8foms 1998), so it
is extremely unlikely to have been used at Reedmkl@ver 20 years earlier.
Given the close-set neature of the east/west-aligrdumn rows, and the
position of the the line shafting, it appears tlsginning was initially
undertaken on throstle frames. These differ from rtiore common spinning
mules, in that they did not have a moving carrieaygd could therefore be
placed in transverse or longitudinal rows along kmegth of the spinning
floor, whereas, with the column spacing at Reedsndpmules would have to
have been placed longitudinally. It is most likelyat they were placed
transversely, as the throstles ran perpendiculéinagdine shafting, although it
remains unclear how throstles in the southern texslof the spinning floor
would have been powered.
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5.2.3

524

5.3
53.1

The original layout of the power plant remains som&t unclear. Whilst
internal engine houses were common within suchcstres, boiler houses
were often detached, to reduce the risk of firehiwitthe main structures,
should they explode, or placed adjacent to thenengouse, which would act
as a buffer to the main structure (Giles and Gddd#2). The position of the
chimney, detached beyond the end of the origindl, nisi also somewhat
unusual, as chimneys were only generally detacteed the power plant if the
topography required it, for example, to increasgedhaught of the chimeny by
placing it higher up a hillside. The site of Reé¢ttsme Mill was almost flat,
and appears to have been virgin ground at the tmmitial construction.
Thus, the chimney was almost certainly placed sneitant location as the
most efficient siting. This would suggest that thalers were placed on a
transverse alignment to the mill, next to the chemyrbeyond the ‘Devil Hole’
preparation area. Whilst this would have given fisea long steam pipe,
which would have been rather inefficient in itswster of steam heat from the
boiler to the engine. It had the advantage of rangpthe boiler as far as
possible from the non-fireproof spinning block, aiidthe plot boundary
respected what later became Reeds Holme Streegdmtely to the north of
the mill, this was actually the closest to the aeegihat the boilers could be
placed (Plate 3).

The space between the mill and the chimney wousilyehave housed two

20’ (6.10m) boilers, most probably of Cornish typéis would suggest that
the ground floor of the spinning block was contiasito the chimney, and that
the large doorway at the western end of that lerufthvall represented a

loading door for coal for the boilers. It is someawlunclear as to why the
boilers were not placed on a north/south alignmamd, loaded more typically

from the southern side, through an open-frontedebdiouse, which would

have allowed the chimney to have been placed isdinge position. The great
advantage of the siting of the boilers, was thageeof replacement during the
expansion of the mill, and it is possible, thatthe owners forecast the
expansion of the weaving shed, they also designegower plant in such a
way that it could be remodelled to provide the @ased power requirements
with minimal disruption.

PHASE 2

Despite early reports of the sale of power loomd4.885, the venture must
have become successful shortly thereafter, leatdings expansion in 1864.
The weaving shed was extended along the lengtts afi@stern side to meet
Burnley Road, representing an extension of apprateiy 22,5002 (2100m?),
and apparently increasing its capacity from the fefibrted in 1855 to 700.
Such a large increase in power demand, turningctirecern into a fully
integrated mill, could have required a large inseea power generation, and
unless the original engine had also been bought expansion in mind, it
would almost certainly have been incapable of sypglthe demand.
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5.3.2

5.3.3

5.3.4

The apparent desing of the early layout to affendninent expansion would
have had minimal impact on the initial constructiomst, and on operating
methodology, but incorporating a massively overp@deengine into such a
design, in the hope that the concern would floynsas almost certainly an
unrealistic risk, that would have found financialcking very hard to secure.
However, once the concern could be demonstratethetosucessful, and
warranting a huge expansion of the weaving shedadilitional financial cost
of upgrading the power plant would be in proportiorthat of expanding the
shed. With the initial layout of the structurestlasy were, the work could not
only be undertaken more cost-effectively that withi complete rebuild, but
equally importantly, could be undertaken with mialndisruption to the
output of the mill. Whilst the dividing wall betwedhe two weaving sheds
appears to have been largely rebuilt (unless thieet® were included within
the original design, which is improbable), the ftary boiler house extension
could have been erected and furnished whilst tiggnai boilers were retained
in use. Again, fireproofing appears to have beeaonporated even in this
expansion, as the documentary sources suggesbithatthree boilers were
installed, allowing for a further increase in capashould it be required. The
new boilers would cetainly have been Lancashiréelmias they needed to be
capable of producing higher pressure than was Iplessvith the Cornish
variant, and relatively short 30’ (9.14m) boiletlowed space for an internal
charging platform within the southern bay of théeasion. Once these had
been installed, production had to be ceased toadjegthe steam engine,
during which time the original boilers could be @rad, and replaced with an
economiser, which would then utilise the same fio® the base of the
chimney. There would presumably have been ample tmundertake the
necessary remodelling of the dividing wall in theawving shed at this time.

Rather than replace the existing engine with a npoeerful alternative,
which would have proven extremely costly, the engsengine was upgraded
by the process of ‘McNaughting’. William McNaughawa Scottish engineer,
who patented the design for a compound steam engid845. Four years
later, he relocated to Manchester, at the heateotextile industry, and began
a business maily comprising the retrospectivenfitof high pressure cylinders
to existing steam engines, and exhausting them timooriginal cylinder,
which was retained as a low pressure cylinder. &by did this increase the
power of the cylinder, it also reduced its fuel s@mption, leading to a saving
in running costs. The installation of a 192-tubee@rs economiser, listed in
the inventory of 1931, would further have reduckd tunning cost of the
enlarged power plant, possibly making it more &fit than that it replaced.

It is probable that the stable block was also ekt this time, given the
increase in the output of the mill. It is almosttaa that this would have
required transport to Rawtenstall, where it coutdez be sold, or loaded onto
trains for transfer to markets or clients elsewh&wech buildings either rarely
survive later remodelling of textile-mill complexes are so heavily altered
that they bear little resemblance to their origifaim, containing almost no
evidence for their layout or function. That at Reedolme, therefore,
represents a rare survival of evidence for earyngport and distribution
associated with a non-canal based textile mill demp
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5.3.5 The construction of the western weaving shed, wghtall, blank facade

5.3.6

5.4

5.4.1

fronting Burnley road, afforded the opportunity flar greater control over
access into the complex. This was further augmehtethe addition of an
ornate gateway between the new structure and ttstirex spinning block.
Following the loom-breaker riots of 1826, secuatyd restricted access were
high priority features for any mill owner, as ra@baiships with the workforce
were often strained. Although such large scalewttibn had long ceased by
this date, localised disputes, and increasinglyionatised strikes were
becoming more commonplace, as the workers foughtb&iter pay and
conditions. Trade unionism was finally decriminadisin 1867, showing that
the period of expansion of the Reeds Holme worles @ne of general unrest.

The alleyway between the new building and the mvdls paved with local
sandstone cobbled sets, below which was placech@matalrainage culvert.
Inspection covers, placed in the centre of the reatthin decoraive cobbling,
bore the name “Burton & Nelson Reeds Holme IrorikgoRawtenstall’ (Plate
110), suggesting that much of the fabrication & thill may have been
undertaken on site, or in the immediate vicinity.

Plate 110: Decorative drain cover in alley betwesminning block and weaving shed

PHASE 3

Further small-scale expansion of the complex ajgpteanave been undertaken
in the 1880s, with the extension of the westernwvepshed to the southern
site boundary. Again there is no physical evidefocehis within the external
walls of the shed, but the differences in colunyold, roof design, drive shaft
corbels, and apparent inclusion of a basement nvithis part of the shed,
would appear to provide overwhelming evidence whiaehlies with the
documentary sources.
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54.2

54.3

5.5

5.5.1

5.6
5.6.1

5.6.2

The differing arrangement of the columns withinstpiart of the shed imply
that more technologically advanced, and almostagdyt larger looms, were
incorporated into the new structure, and the aoiditof a low basement
underneath the new build offered extra warehouingttle extra cost.

It is probable that a fourth, slightly larger diaereLancashire boiler was
added into the boiler house at this time, maxingsthe potential of the
previously McNaughted double-beam engine.

PHASE 4

Engineering workshops above weaving shed were ezteptior to 1930,
probably in the early twentieth century. This war&s probably undertaken at
the same time as the refurbishment of the offi@lplin the north-western
corner of the weaving shed, and could feasibly héeen undertaken
following the purchase of the mill in 1925 by Heniylling. It not only
represents a modernisation of the complex, but asmonstrates the
increasing need for laboratories and maintenanad&skiops, as the industry
became more technologically advanced at this time.

PHASE 5

This relates to the ownership of the complex byBiBadley from the 1930s,
and represents the end of the integrated spinniaigvwaeaving process. The
spinning block was initially given over to slippenanufacture, whilst

Broadleys undertook textile finishing in the weayshed. Initially, the office

block along Burnley Road, was expanded into then&rweaving shed, to
provide facilities more appropriate for the new usethe structure, with

further internal partitions and a tall brick-buitiwer being added probably
quite shortly afterwards.

The stable block also became redundant at this, tand was converted to
workshops with a parts store above, although thistoad had been converted
to a motor vehicle garage during the previous phase
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APPENDIX 1: WRITTEN SCHEME OF INVESTIGATION

Oxford
Ar chaeology
August 2012 North

REEDSHOLME MILL,
BURNLEY ROAD,
RAWTENSTALL,

LANCASHIRE

ARCHAEOLOGICAL WRITTEN SCHEME
OF INVESTIGATION

Proposals

The following Written Scheme of Investigation ferefd in response to a request from Allied Textiles
Ltd for a programme of archaeological building redimg in advance of the proposed demolition of
Reeds Holme Mill in Rawtenstall.
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1.
11

INTRODUCTION

PROJECT BACKGROUND

1.1.1 Allied Textiles Ltd has submitted an application Rossendale Borough

1.1.2

1.13

Council for prior notification of the demolition dhe former Reeds Holme
Mill on Burnley Road, Rawtenstall (centred on NGR0S00 424537). In
response to the application, Rossendale Borougimdildas requested that an
archaeological record of the mill complex is coragilas part of the method
statement for demolition.

The date at which Reeds Holme Mill was establisiseahcertain, although it
is known to have been occupied in 1854 by Williamord, a cotton
manufacturer (Davies 1984, 104). By 1879, the imdused 16,000 spindles
and 400 loomsRacup and Rossendale Nevl879), representing a medium-
sized mill complex. An additional weaving shed watltapacity for 200 looms
and a new warehouse were added to the site in (B&6up and Rossendale
News 1886). A current survey of Lancashire’s textilenmafacturing sites has
indicated that Reeds Holme Mill is potentially dfigh significance’ as it
seemingly retains a considerable proportion dhigsoric fabric.

Following the guidance and advice provided by tha&ndashire County
Archaeology Service (LCAS) in their capacity ashaological advisor to
Rossendale Borough Council, it has been recommetidtdn archaeological
building survey of the historic elements of theesi$é carried out prior to
demolition. This document presents a Written Schemkavestigation (WSI)
for the archaeological building survey.

The Burnley Road frontage of Reeds Holme Mill
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12

121

1.2.2

1.2.3

124

OXFORD ARCHAEOLOGY NORTH

OA North is the largest archaeological corntnam north-west England, with
unsurpassed experience of working in the region. Qérth has the
professional expertise and resource to undertak@mbject to a high level of
quality and efficiency. OA North isn Institute for Archaeologists (IfA)
registered organisation, registration number 17, and all its members of
staff operate subject to the IfA Code of Conduct.

OA North has established itself as one otcthentry’s leading practitioners in
the field of industrial archaeology, and has geteeran impressive portfolio
of projects that include those completsdthe Derwentcote Steel Furnace in
County Durham (Cranstonet al 1997), the Carlton Alum Works in North
Yorkshire (Miller 2002), the Pilkington’s Sheet G&Works in St Helens
(Krupa and Heawood 2002), Thomas Telford’'s Holyhdé¥mhd in North
Wales (Quartermainet al 2003), and the Percival, Vickers Flint Glass Works
in Manchester (Miller 2007). A large proportiontbe industrial archaeology
projects carried out by OA North, however, have rbdecused on the
development of textile-manufacturing sites. In 20fw# instance, OA North
completed a four-year project of conservation-basseéarch, building survey
and excavation at the Grade Il Listed Murrays’ M#ipinning complex in the
Ancoats area of Manchester. This project culminatethe publication of a
monograph on the history, development, and fabfidManchester’'s oldest
surviving steam-powered cotton mill (Miller and \@/2007).

Building assessment and recording has alwaysed a substantial part of OA
North’s work, and industrial buildings have congtid a major part of the
work carried out in this field. Recent projects @éaucluded the survey and
recording of Pecket Well spinning and weaving méar Hebden Bridge (OA
North 2007b), the early twentieth-century Gem MillChadderton (OA North
2007c), Lyons Lane Mill in Chorley (OA North 2010Qdhe Sandygate Mills
in the Weavers’ Triangle area of Burnley (OA No&010e), Victoria Mill,
also in the Weavers’ Triangle (OA North 2011a), denStreet Shed and
Reedyford Mill in Nelson (OA North 2011b), and \bcta Mill in Sabden
(OA North 2011c). OA North is presently carryingtdbe second stage of a
major English Heritage-funded project that is asisgsthe condition of all the
surviving textile-manufacturing sites in Lancashiaad carrying out detailed
research and survey of a selected sample of 5GitaH.

All work on the project will be undertaken accordance with relevant
professional standards, including:

. IfA’s Code of Conduc¢t(1999); Code of Approved Practice for the
Regulation of Contractual Arrangements in Field Aaeology (1999);
Standard and Guidance for Archaeological Evaluagjor{1999);
Standard and Guidance for Archaeological Watchimgfg, (1999);

. English Heritage’sManagement of Archaeological Projects (MAP2)
1991.
. The European Association of Archaeologists Priregpdf Conduct for

Archaeologists Involved in Contract Archaeologi@ébrk (1998).
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2.2

3.1
3.1.1

3.1.2

AIMSAND OBJECTIVES

The archaeological building investigation will becéissed on those elements
of the Reeds Holme Mill complex that will be sulijjem demolition,
comprising the mid-nineteenth-century spinning kjoweaving shed and
associated power-plant features. The main resesdnoh of the investigation
will be to provide an appropriate record of thetdrie buildings prior to their
demolition, and to ensure the long-term presermabd the archaeological
information by the production and deposition of eport and an ordered
project archive.

The required stages to achieve these ends ar@sso

. Building Investigation: to carry an appropriate level of historical
research, and provide a drawn, photographic anidaexecord of all
the buildings to English Heritage (2006) standavdsich will provide
a lasting record of the structures in their presgae;

. Reporting and Archive: a fully illustrated report and project archive
will be produced out on completion of the fieldwoikhe report will
include information about the buildings’ age, fabfiorm and function.
This will be followed by a discussion of the seqeeeiof development,
process layout and use over time, and their relship with other
buildings in the vicinity, in terms of architecturad function.

METHOD STATEMENT

BUILDING INVESTIGATION

Historical Research: a sufficient level of research will be carried ¢oitplace
the results obtained from the building investigatio an appropriate historical
context. The research will be collated from OA Ntextensive archive of
textile-manufacturing sites in Lancashire, suppletaé by an examination of
available cartographic sources and any relevantirdeats relating to the
buildings.

The buildings that are to be demolished includeudtiratorey spinning block
and associated weaving sheds, which merit an Enbllesitage Level 2/3 type
survey. In addition to a detailed photographic rdgcthis level of survey will
allow for the production of measured survey drawinfpat capture all
archaeological detail. A visual inspection of thaildings will also be
undertaken utilising the OA North building investigppn pro-forma sheets,
and a description will be maintained to English itdgie (2006) Level 2/3
standard. The records will be essentially desepéind provide a systematic
account of the origin, development and use of thilimg, which will include
a description of the plan, form, fabric, functioage and development
sequence of the complex.
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3.1.3 Photographic Archive: a photographic archive for both levels of survaly w
be produced utilising a digital camera with a ra8oh of at least 12 mega
pixels, using RAW format files for image captureyed as 8 bit TIFFs for
archive purposes A full photographic index will pp@duced, and the archive
of images will comprise the following:

® the external appearance and setting of the busdingcluding a
mixture of general shots and detailed views takemfperpendicular
and oblique angles;

(i) general shots of the surrounding landscape;

(i)  the general appearance of principal rooms @nculation areas;

(iv) any external or internal detail, structural architectural, which is
relevant to the design, development and use ofbth&lings, and
which does not show adequately on general photbgrap

(V) any internal detailed views of features of esglegrchitectural interest,
fixtures and fittings, or fabric detail relevantgbasing the buildings.

3.1.4 In addition to the digital files, hard copies oktimages will be created on
paper of appropriate archival quality, and depdsiés part of the paper
archive.

3.1.5 Site Drawings:. fire insurance plans (supplied by the client) w#l annotated
on site to produce the drawings. These drawingsteh be used as the basis
of CAD drawings, which will be included within thimal report as figures:

M floor plans for each building;

(i) a cross-section through the short axis of the spinblock and the
weaving sheds;

(i)  an elevation of the spinning block.

3.1.6 Where architects drawings are not availabég for cross-sections and
elevations), the following survey techniques wél &pplied as appropriate:

3.1.7 Reflectorless Electronic Distance Measurer (REDM) survey: the proposed
elevations and cross-sections will be surveyed l®ama of a reflectorless
electronic distance measurer (REDM). The REDM ipatde of measuring
distances to a point of detail by reflection frame wall surface, and does not
need a prism to be placed. The instrument to bé wiebe a Leica TCR805.
This emits a viable laser beam, which can be Vigwgplided around points of
detail. The digital survey data will be capturedhivi a portable computer
running TheolLT software, which allows the survey®directly inserted into
AutoCAD software for the production of final drawis

3.1.8 Detail captured by the instrument survey will irddusuch features as window
and door openings, evidence for power transmissoatijne of decorative
detail, evidence for machinery, an indication afwgrd and ceiling level, and
changes in building material.

3.1.9 The drawings will usually be produced at a scalel@0. The existing
drawings will be scanned or digitised into an indystandard CAD package
for the production of the final drawings.
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3.1.10 Manual Survey Techniques: hand-measured survey techniques will be
utilised to record areas that are not accessibléenkirument or photographic
survey. The drawings will be tied into the remaimdédhe survey through the
use of a survey control established by the instnireervey.

3.1.11 CAD System: the drawings will be manipulated in AutoCAD softeaThe
advantage of a CAD system is that it allows foicefht manipulation and
editing of drawings. The adoption of a layeringteys has significant benefits
during the analysis stage as it allows for the ldis@f information such as
feature types, fabric and phasing as necessaryhdorgquirements of the
analysis, without the necessity to produce furtirawings. Finished drawings
can be plotted at the required scale or sheet.sizes

3.2 REPORTING

3.3.1 Report: the content of the fully illustrated and integchteport on the building
investigation will comprise the following:

(i) a title page detailing site address, NGR, authyifmating body,
client’'s name and address a site location plarte@lto the national
grid;

(i) full content’s listing;

(i)  a brief account of the results. This will incle a description of the
buildings’ layout, as well as their age, fabricinfoand function. This
will be followed by a discussion of the sequencedet¥elopment,
process layout and use over time, its relationshth other buildings
in the vicinity, in terms of architecture and fuioct,

(iv)  a description of the methodology employed, work ertaken and
results obtained,;

(V) a description of the archaeological background, amdccount of the
historical development of the site;

(vi)  copies of plans, photographs, and other illustnstias appropriate;

(vii) a copy of this written scheme of investigation, amdications of any
agreed departure from that design;

(viii) a complete bibliography of sources from which dea been derived.

3.2.2 The report will be in the same basic format as thistten scheme of
investigation; a copy of the report can be providadCD, if required. Copies
of the report will be supplied to the client as uested, and further digital
copies will go to the appropriate repository.

3.2.3 Archive: the results of all archaeological work carried wilt form the basis
for a full archive to professional standards, inaxdance with current English
Heritage guidelinesManagement of Archaeological Project®nd edition,
1991). The project archive represents the collatiot indexing of all the data
and material gathered during the course of theeptoj
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3.2.4 The deposition of a properly ordered and iedeyroject archive in an
appropriate repository is considered an essentidl iategral element of all
archaeological projects by the IfA in that orgati@@s code of conduct. OA
North conforms to best practice in the preparatibproject archives for long-
term storage. OA North practice is to deposit thigiwal record archive of
projects with the appropriate County Record Office.

3.2.5 The Arts and Humanities Data Service (AHDSjnendatabase proje@nline
Access to index of Archaeological InvestigatigB\SIS) will be completed
as part of the archiving phase of the project.

3.2.6 Confidentiality: all internal reports to the client are designed@suments for
the specific use of the Client, for the particufarrpose as defined in the
project brief and project design, and should baté@ as such. They are not
suitable for publication as academic documents trerwvise without
amendment or revision.

4. OTHER MATTERS

4.1 Health and Safety. archaeological staff and visitors will respect Hleadnd
Safety provisions and site-specific safety regafei It is the policy of OA
North (‘the Employer’) to conform fully with the geirements of the Health
and Safety at Work Act (1974), and all site procedwvill be in accordance
with the guidance set out in the Health and Saé&nhual compiled by the
Standing Conference of Archaeological Unit Manad&@97). Attention will
also be paid to the requirements of more recensl&gn, including the
provision and use of Work Equipment Regulati¢892), the Management of
Health and Safety at Work Regulatiofi®92), and the Construction (Design
and Management) Regulations (1994).

4.2 In furtherance of the duty of care imposed by tlealth and Safety at Work
Act (1974), the Employer shall make available ts Bmployees whatever
reasonable facilities are required by particulacuwmstanceseg appropriate
protective clothing, safety equipment, rest brefaksspecialised tasks, etc. A
written risk assessment will be wundertaken in adeanof project
commencement, and copies will be made availabieguest.

4.3 Insurance: evidence of Public Liability Insurance to the mmim value of
£5m, and Professional Indemnity Insurance to theimum of £2m, will be
provided prior to the commencement of the archapodb works.

4.4  Project Monitoring: the aims of monitoring are to ensure that the
archaeological works are undertaken within the tBnset by the Written
Scheme of Investigation, and to the satisfactiothefcuratorial archaeologist
at the Lancashire County Archaeology Service (LCAShe -curatorial
archaeologist will be given at least five days’iocetof when work is due to
commence, and will be free to visit the site byoprarrangement with the
project director.
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4.5

5.1.1

5.1.2

6.2

Confidentiality: the report is designed as a document for the spacke of
the Client, for the particular purpose as definedthe project design, and
should be treated as such; it is not suitable fdslipation as an academic
report, or otherwise, without amendment or revisidmy requirement to
revise or reorder the material for submission aspntation to third parties
beyond the project design, or for any other explicirpose can be fulfilled,
but will require separate discussion and funding.

WORK TIMETABLE

Building I nvestigation: approximately one week in the field will be reqdire
to complete the Level 2/3 type building investigati

Report/Archive: the report and archive will be produced within sigeks of
completion of the fieldwork. OA North can executmjpcts at very short
notice once a formal written agreement has beezived from the client.

STAFFING

The project will be under the overall chargd @ Miller BA FSA (OA North
Senior Project Manager) to whom all correspondeaoild be addressed. lan
has considerable experience and particular reseatetests in Lancashire’s
textile industries. lan managed the archaeologfdtiwork, analysis and
ultimate publication at Murrays’ Mills (Miller andVild 2007), and has
managed numerous excavations of former textilesntiiroughout Greater
Manchester. He is presently managing the Lancadtxéile Mills Survey, a
strategic research project funded by English Hgeita

The archaeological building survey will be carriedt by Chris Wild BSc
(OA North Project Officer). Chris is an highly expnced historic buildings’
surveyor, who has a particular interest in IndastArchaeology, and has
carried out numerous surveys of former textile-nfactwring sites.
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Figure 9: Second floor plan of Reeds Holme spinning block
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